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INTRODUCTION

On February 7, 2001, Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V. (“CB&I") acquired the assets of
the Engineered Congtruction (“EC”) and Water Divisons of Fitt-Des Moines, Inc. (“PDM”). Prior to
the acquisition, and over a period of many years, CB& | and PDM were the leading U.S. producers of
large, field-erected (i.e., congtructed on-site) industrial and water storage tanks, and other specidized
ged plate structures, and regularly bid againgt each other for new projects. By virtue of the acquisition,
CB&| diminated its primary competitor and became the dominant supplier of these products for
customersin the United States. documents the two companies believed that
the acquisition would be anticompetitive.

CB& | has taken advantage of its dominant position and improved its margins by imposing higher prices
and lessfavorable terms on customers. These anticompetitive effects will be felt in each of the rdevant
markets as customers contract for the new projects that they expect to begin.

On October 25, 2001, the Commisson issued its complaint in this matter, dleging thet the
acquigtion violates Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. 845, in six product markets for these field-erected structures: (1) liquefied natural gas (“LNG”)
gorage tanks, (2) LNG import terminds, (3) LNG peak shaving plants, (4) liquid nitrogen, oxygen and
argon (“LIN/LOX/LAR”) storage tanks, (5) liquid petroleum gas (“LPG”) storage tanks, and (6)
therma vacuum chambers. With the exception of therma vacuum chambers, these products are, or
include as essentid components, large indudtrid storage tanks for storing gasesin liquid form at ether
low or extremely low (cryogenic) temperatures.

LNG tanks are very large, field-erected storage tanks that use special designs and alloys that
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alow them to store large amounts of LNG at temperatures around -260° F. LNG tanks are essential
components of LNG import terminals, which receive LNG from large, ocean-going transports, and
LNG pesk shaving plants, which store LNG to meet seasonal, peak demand requirements for natural
gas users (collectively, “LNG tanks and facilities’).

LIN/LOX/LAR tanks are smilar in desgn to LNG tanks, but are not aslarge. LNG and
LIN/LOX/LAR tanks are collectively referred to as* cryogenic storage tanks.” LPG tanks, dso
referred to as “low temperature’ or “refrigerated tanks,” store LPG at temperatures of -50° F. CB&|
and PDM often refer to LNG, LIN/LOX/LAR, and LPG tanks collectively as“LTC” (low temperature
and cryogenic) tanks.

Therma vacuum chambers are large, field-erected chambers that ssmulate the environment of
outer space (high vacuum and extreme cold and extreme heet) and are used for testing satdllites and
other aerospace and defense equipment. Thermal vacuum chambers, while not storage tanks, require
many of the same skills associated with the design and congtruction of field-erected LTC tanks.

The relevant products have no economic subgtitutes. Once the volume that a customer requires
for agtorage tank reaches a certain levd, field-erected vessels are the only economic dternative.
Moreover, each of the relevant productsis specidly designed for the product it holds. The geographic
market for the relevant productsis the United States. Field-erected tanks and thermal vacuum
chambers for use by customersin the United States must be erected at customer sites in the United
States.

Prior to the acquidition, CB& | and PDM were the two leading competitors in the relevant

markets, each of which was highly concentrated. No supplier other than CB&1 or PDM has
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the acquigtion resulted in a subgtantia 1oss of competition, and therefore islikely to have
anticompetitive effects. Thus, Complaint counsel’ s evidence establishes a strong presumption of
anticompetitive effects.

The acquidition has diminated PDM, which was the most formidable bidder againgt CB&I in
each of the rdlevant markets. Consequently, the bidding processes upon which customers have relied
in securing supply have become less competitive. Since the acquisition, customers have been forced
ether to contract with CB& | asthe only dternative for the relevant products, or to try to contract with
some of the fringe firmsthat - dthough they have bid on projects - have conggtently been inferior
competitive aternatives. Because the acquigtion eiminated PDM, which had been its closest
competitive condraint, CB&I will now be bidding againgt firms that have been uncompetitive on pricing
and on other terms. Asaresult, CB& I will not need to be as comptitive in its bid proposds. This
anticompetitive effect is described in the Merger Guidelines:

A merger involving the first and second lowest-cost sellers could cause pricesto rise to the
condraining leve of the next lowest-cost sdler.

Merger Guidelines § 2.21, n.21.2 Thus, following the acquisition, in order to have an dternative
bidder to CB&I, customers must consider the proposals from other fringe firms. Relieved of the
pressure to compete against PDM, CB& | can continue to secure contracts while increasing its pricing

up to the higher levels quoted by these less competitive firms. Thus, the choice that cusomers have

2 Although the Merger Guidelines explicitly discuss “open auction” bidding, in which the sdller has
perfect information, the fact that the seller in this case has imperfect information does not fundamentally
dter theanalyss. It smply means that the priceis likely to gpproach the cost of the second lowest-cost
sler.
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been |eft - to ded with CB&I or with aless competitive firm - is a choice that reflects the diminished
competition after the acquigtion.

In order to conclude that the limination of the ongoing competition between CB& 1 and PDM
isnot likely to lessen comptition, it would be necessary to find that the fringe competitors - who have
consstently demondtrated themselves inferior over aperiod of more than a decade - have in each of the
relevant markets suddenly overcome dl of the obstacles that made their bids inferior to PDM’sin
bidding for busnessin the U.S. However, those current fringe competitors, whether foreign or
domestic companies, are unlikely, any timein the near future, to develop the capahilities they need to
replace PDM as a competitor to CB&I. The presence of these firms, even if they continue to bid on
new projects, will therefore not be sufficient to restore the level of competition that had existed prior to
the acquigition. The fringe supplierswill tend to have higher costs than PDM had, lack the experience
to compete effectively, and lack the reputation for quality and rdiability that customers consder critica
in sdecting suppliers. Asareault, it would be many years before fringe competitors would consstently
be able to offer the competitive pricing that PDM had provided. For the same reasons, entry of new

firmsisaso highly unlikely to restore the competition that had existed between CB&1 and PDM.n between CB& I and ol



the rdlevant markets. Respondents may make that argument as a defense to the alegations of the

Complaint. However, that defense is without merit. First, respondents cannot meet the burden of

demongtrating that PDM, after one unprofitable year which followed severd years of profitable activity,

was a risk of financid falure. Furthermore, PDM made absolutely no effort to find an dternative
purchaser, and in fact actively discouraged other potentia bidders. The reason PDM looked for no

buyers other than CB& 1 is precisely the same reason that Complaint counsel’ s underlying caseis o

grong: CB& 1 waswilling to pay a premium price to diminate its main competitor, and therefore was

able to make a pre-emptive bid, which foreclosed any possihility of finding other potentid buyers.
In summary, the evidence showsthat CB& 1’ s acquigtion of the EC and Water Divisions of

PDM violates Section 7 of the Clayton Act, and Section 5 of the FTC Act, in the rdlevant markets. As

st out in the Commission’s Notice of Contemplated Relief, CB& 1 must now be required to divest dl of

the assets it acquired from PDM, and take other steps necessary to reestablish two distinct and
separate, viable and competing businesses in the relevant markets, including restoring plant and
equipment, rehiring personne, and taking other steps to reestablish the PDM EC and Water divisons

asthey existed prior to February 7, 2001.

l. THE RELEVANT PRODUCT MARKETSARE LNG TANKS, LNG IMPORT
TERMINALS, LNG PEAK SHAVING PLANTS, LPG TANKS, LIN/LOX/LAR
TANKS, AND THERMAL VACUUM CHAMBERS
Section 7 of the Clayton Act prohibits acquigtions "in any line of commerce or in any activity

affecting commerce. . . [if] the effect of such acquisition may be substantidly to lessen compstition, or

to tend to create amonopoly.” 15 U.S.C. 8 18. To establish a Section 7 violation, Complaint counsdl

must show that an acquisition would “ creste a reasonable likelihood of anticompetitive effects.” B.F.
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Goodrich Co., 110 F.T.C. 207, 288-89 (1988); see FTC v. H.J. Heinz Co., 246 F.3d 708, 713

(D.C. Cir. 2001) ("Congress used the words 'may be substantialy to lessen competition'. . . , to

3 < http://ww.chicagobridge.comvlotemp.html> (visited Oct. 18, 2002).
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or some form of concrete containment for safety reasons.* An LNG tank often has adiameter of 200
feet or more, typicdly holds 15 million galons or more of LNG, and may cost as much as $13 million
or more®> LNG tanks are integral components of LNG import terminas and LNG peak shaving plants,
described below.

Two basic types of LNG tanks have been used in the U.S.: structures with double stedl-walls
(referred to as single containment tanks), and structures with an inner stedl tank partidly or fully
enclosed by an outer concrete shell (referred to as double containment or full containment tanks).
Virtudly dl of the LNG tanks now in operation in the U.S. utilize the Sngle containment design.

2. LNG Import Terminals

LNG import terminas are designed to unload and store LNG from LNG ocean tankers. LNG
isstored in the LNG tanks, pumped out, vaporized and injected into pipelines for transmisson to end
users. The terminals include LNG storage tanks, fire protection systems, ship
loading/unloading facilities, send-out facilities and vapor handling systems.

There are currently four LNG import terminals located in the continentd U.S,, the most recent
of which was built in 1982, and one import termind in Puerto Rico. Dynegy Inc. has announced plans
to condtruct another import termina in Hackberry, Louisiana, which would become operationd by the
end of 2006. Other companies have also announced plans to construct

LNG termindsinthe U.S. RX 40 (Cheniere Energy has plansfor 3 LNG import terminalson the U.S.

4 <http://www.chicagobridge.com/lotemp.html> (visited Oct. 18, 2002);
<http://www.chicagobridge.com/lotemp_tanks.html> (visited Oct. 20, 2002).
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Gulf Coast).® CB&I believesthat the outlook in North Americafor new LNG tanks and import
facilitiesis excellent due to the increased demand for LNG.
3. LNG Peak Shaving Plants
LNG peak shaving plants store LNG to provide areserve of LNG for periods of peak demand
to assure that gas customers do not experience a shortage of natural ges. LNG
pesk shaving plants congst of aliquefaction unit, where the gasisturned into liquid, LNG storage
tanks, and a vaporization unit in which the liquid LNG is returned to a gaseous state before discharge to
the pipdine. In LNG pesk shaving facilities, naturd gas from apipdineisrefrigerated in the liquefaction
unit and accumulated in liquid form in an LNG tank during the warmer months when demand and prices
arelow. As gas demand increases in colder months, the stored LNG is heated,
vaporized and put back into the supply stream to meet heating demand peaks, when prices are high.
There are about 65 LNG peak shaving plants located in the U.S., most of which were
constructed in the 1970s and early 1980s. The last LNG pesk shaving plant congtructed in the
U.S,, the Pine Needle plant in Stokesdd e, North Caroling, was completed in May 1999.
Four LNG peak shaving plants were constructed in the U.S. from 1990-2000.”
4. LPG Tanks
LPG tanks are large, field-erected tanks that store refrigerated liquids such as propane, butane,

propylene and butadiene at temperatures of around -50° F. Some LPG tanks,

® In addition to new fadilities, the owner of acurrently idle LNG import facility located at Cove
Point, Maryland plansto add a new LNG tank as part of aplan to reactivate that fecility.

" Yankee Gasis currently considering constructing an LNG pesk shaving plant in Waterbury,
Connecticut.
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particularly those that are part of LPG import terminds, are very large. In , PDM completed an
LPG tank for LPG import termind in . . Thistank is
in diameter and cost between million.
5. LIN/LOX/LAR Tanks
LIN/LOX/LAR tanks are large, field-erected tanks, each of which stores a specific liquid gas
product, such as hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen, argon and helium at cryogenic temperatures ranging from
-260° F to-450° F. They are smilar in design to LNG tanks, but smaller.
LIN/LOX/LAR tanks typicaly hold 400,000 to 1,000,000 gallons of liquid gas products and cost
$500,000 to $1 million each.2. Over 100 of these tanks have been built since 1990.
6. Thermal Vacuum Chambers
Thermd vacuum chambers are large, vault-like chambers that Smulate the environment of outer
space and are used for testing satellites and other aerospace and defense equipment.’  They are
congtructed to support vacuum conditions and withstand extreme changes in temperature ranging
between approximately -320° F and +350° F.2° Therma vacuum chambers with diameters greater
than gpproximately 20 feet must be field-erected because of their size!*

One therma vacuum chamber has been built since 1990, by PDM for

10

1 . The thermd vacuum chamber that PDM buiilt for
is , Wweighs more than one million pounds,
and codts about million
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. In , CB&1 won the contract to construct a thermal vacuum chamber for
. Thisproject is currently on hold, awaiting financing. Market participants expect to source
new therma vacuum chambers over the next severa years.

B. There Are No Economic Substitutesfor the Relevant Products

The relevant product market includes those products for which “sdlers, if unified by a
hypothetica cartel or merger, could raise prices sgnificantly above the competitive level.” Coca-Cola
Bottling Company of the Southwest, 118 F.T.C. 452, 540 (1994), quoting H.J., Inc. v. Int’'| Tel. &
Tel. Corp., 867 F.2d 1531, 1537 (8" Cir. 1989). Market definition is an exercise to distinguish close
competitive condraints from distant ones, so that the analys's can then proceed to examine whether the
merger Sgnificantly reduces competition among close condraints. See 4 P. Areeda, H. Hovenkamp &
J. Solow, Antitrust Law 1929 (rev. ed. 1998). Thus, “[a] market isthe set of sellersto which a set
of buyers can turn for supplies at existing or dightly higher prices.” FTC v. Elders Grain, 868
F.2d 901, 907 (7" Cir. 1989) (emphasis added). Therefore, the market "must be drawn narrowly to
exclude any other product to which, within reasonable variationsin price, only alimited number of
buyerswill turn." Times-Picayune Publishing Co. v. United States, 345 U.S. 594, 612 n.31, 73 S.
Ct. 872, 882 n.31 (1953).

The Merger Guidelines gpproximate the ultimate question of condraint by seeking to identify
dterndtives to which consumers likely would turn in the event of asmadl priceincrease.  The Merger
Guidelines take the smallest possible group of competing products and ask whether a " hypothetical
monopolist over that group of products would profitably impose a least a'smdl but sgnificant and

nontrangitory' [price] increase” Merger Guidelines 81.11. If customers of the relevant products
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would not reduce consumption of the relevant products by an amount sufficient to make the price
increase unprofitable, the market is established. Merger Guidelines§ 1.11.

In his expert report, respondents expert witness, Dr. Barry Harris, “accepted the product
markets defined in the complaint.” Harris Report 1 16. Thus, there appears to be no dispute between
Complaint counsd and respondents that LNG tanks, LNG import terminas, LNG pesk shaving plants,
LPG tanks, LIN/LOX/LAR tanks, and therma vacuum chambers are relevant product markets.

There are no economic subgtitutes for these products.

Consequently, buyers would not turn to subgtitutesin
response to asignificant increase in their price. Smaler, less-expensive, shop-manufactured versions of
LNG tanks, LPG tanks, LIN/LOX/LAR tanks, and therma vacuum chambers do not provide a
competitive congraint. These shop-manufactured structures are assembled within a fabrication facility
and shipped to the customer. Even witnesses for respondents concede that these smal tanks are not
economic substitutes for the large, field-erected versions of the relevant products manufactured by
CB&l.

Shop-manufactured tanks are more economica than field-erected tanks only if the required
dorage volume is small. LIN/LOX/LAR customers such as
have found that for storage above approximately 50,000 to
100,000 gallons, field-erected cryogenic tanks are much more economica than shop-fabricated tanks
for oring liquid ar elements.
A one million-gdlon field-erected cryogenic storage tank, for example, would require twelve 80,000-

galon shop-fabricated tanks. Using multiple, shop-manufactured tanks instead of one
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large, field-erected tank would impose large costs.*
new LPG storage facility for

may most economically employ severd large field-erected spheres, rather than tens of small shop-
built pressure vessls. ); (shop-manufactured tanks preferred for smaler volume
projects and field-erected tanks generally not cost-effective at volumes less than 150,000 gallons).
Industry participants believe that the price of field-erected tanks would need to increase by avery large
amount before shop-erected tanks could be considered an economic substitute.

In LNG tanks, one custome, stated that it has considered offloading
LNG tankersdirectly into naturd gas pipelines, bypassng storage in the LNG tank. However, this
method of operation would have substantial volume limitations and operating cost penaties compared
to maintaining tank storage. 1t is not an economic subgtitute for LNG import terminasin areas that
have large volume requirements. Smilarly, building more pipdine
capacity is not an economic dternative to building LNG tanks or peak shaving plants.

Because there are no economic aternatives to the relevant products, there islittle doubt that
CB&| could profitably impose on its customers a significant increasein price. In other words, such a
price increase would not cause a substantial amount of subgtitution by customers to aternatives other
than field-erected tanks.
[I. THE RELEVANT GEOGRAPHIC MARKET ISTHE UNITED STATES

The relevant geographic market is*the smadlest region within which a hypothetical monopolist

12 Multiple piping and metering systems would render the shop-manufactured dternative
uneconomicd for projects with large volume storage requirements.
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could *profitably impose at least a‘smadl but sgnificant and nontrangitory” increase in price”” Coca-

Cola Bottling, 118 F.T.C. at 575, quoting Merger Guidelines § 1.21. The Merger Guidelines

define the relevant geographic market as:

aregion such that a hypothetical monopolist that was the only present or future producer of the

relevant product at locations in that region would profitably impose a least a“smdl but

ggnificant and nontrangitory” increasein price, holding congtant the terms of salefor dl

products produced elsewhere.

Merger Guidelines § 1.21. In this case, the products are by definition erected on the ground at

customers' |ocations within the United States, so the competition must occur among suppliers present in

the United States. The companies themselves recognize that the competition occurs on aregiond
basis.!?

Asaresult of these factors, the relevant geographic market is the United States. Respondents
economic expert, Dr. Harris, accepts the geographic market of salesto customersin the United States.
Harris Report § 17.

I[l1l. THE EVIDENCE OF MARKET SHARES, CONCENTRATION AND DIRECT
COMPETITION ESTABLISH A STRONG PRESUMPTION OF
ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS
In order to establish aviolation of Section 7, Complaint counsd is required to show that

anticompetitive effects are “probable,” even if not a“certainty.” R.R. Donnelley & Sons Co., 120

F.T.C. 36, 150 (1995), citing California v. American Sores, 495 U.S. 271, 284, 110 S. Ct. 1853,

1861 (1990) (“[Plaintiff need only prove that the [acquisition’ g effect may be subgtantiadly to lessen

3 PDM differentiate between the domestic and internationa LNG markets
and identify separate competitors for each market.
CBI isPDM EC's domestic competition for LNG tanks.
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compstition.”) (emphasisin original). "Section 7 does not require proof that a merger or other
acquisition [will] cause higher pricesin the affected market. All thet is necessary isthat the merger
creste an gppreciable danger of such consequencesin the future” Hospital Corp. of America v.
FTC, 807 F.2d 1381, 1389 (7th Cir. 1986).

CB&I’'sacquisition of PDM hasled to very large concentration increases and has diminated
CB&I's mogt substantia and most successful competitor in each of the relevant markets. These factors
meke it highly likdly thet the acquisition will reduce competition.

A. The Acquisition Greatly Increased Concentration in Highly Concentrated
Markets

Because of the competitive risks they create, mergers that significantly increase market
concentration to extremely high concentration levels are presumed to be unlawful. Merger Guidelines
§2.0. Seealso Hospital Corp. of Am,, 807 F.2d at 1389. Market concentration may be measured
by determining the market shares of industry leaders or by caculating the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index
("HHI"). FTC v. PPG Indus., Inc., 798 F.2d 1500, 1503 (D.C. Cir. 1986); FTC v. University
Health, Inc., 938 F.2d 1206, 1211 n.12 (11*" Cir. 1991) (HHI is the “most prominent method” of
measuring market concentration); Saples, 970 F. Supp. at 1081-82; FTC v. Cardinal Health, Inc.,
12 F. Supp.2d 34, 53-54 (D.D.C. 1998); Merger Guidelines § 1.5.1* A merger that resultsin an
HHI over 1800 indicates a highly concentrated market; it is presumed that mergers producing an
increase in the HHI of more than 100 points in such markets are likely to create or enhance market

power or facilitate its exercise. Merger Guidelines 8 1.51.

14 The HHI is caculated by summing the squares of the market shares of dl firmsin the market.
Merger Guidelines § 1.5.
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Thefirgt stlep in measuring market concentration isidentifying the firms that participate in the
relevant market. Id. a 8 1.31. To be asinclusive as possible, Complaint counsel has included in our
andyssdl firms, whether foreign or domestic, that are identified by respondents as currently bidding for
projectsin the relevant markets. The second step is caculating market shares. Id. at 8 1.4. Because
sdes of the rlevant products are made infrequently, Complaint counsd has examined market shares
not just for the last year, or even the last few years, but for a period of over twelve years, from 1990 to
the time of the acquisition in early 2001.%> Accord id. at § 1.41 (“[W]hereindividua sdesarelarge
and infrequent so that annua data may be unrepresenttive, the Agency may measure market shares
over alonger period of time.”).

Complaint counsdl’ s gpproach to measuring market shares is different from that proposed by
respondents’ expert, who implies that even those firms which, athough they have bid in the U.S,, have
never won abid for anew contract for over ten years are equaly “qudified” with CB&I to compete
for new contracts, and therefore assigns to each such firm an equal market share. Harris Report  28.
In the view of respondent’ s expert, therefore, the fact that CB& | and PDM have dmost dways
prevailed over other bidders in seeking new contracts has virtudly no relevance to analyzing market
sharesinthiscase. Aswe discussin detail below, however, the only competition that CB& | now faces
is from companies that have had very little success in the marketplace in securing contracts for a period
of over adecade. Their failure to succeed has a greet ded to do not only with how “qudified” those
firms are to compete and what their market shares should therefore be, but so with the likely

competitive effects of the acquisition.

5 Firmsthat have had no sales over that period are accorded a 0% market share.
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Even though other firms have tried to compete with CB& 1 and PDM for new contracts over the
period covered by Complaint counsel’ s evidence, the fact isthat in each of the relevant markets, CB& |
and PDM have each accounted for over of all sales made over the last 10 years.® InLNG
tanks and therma vacuum chambers, these two firms have together accounted for dl of the sdes.

Thus, dthough examining the market shares of these firmsfor only a short period of time would not be
sufficient to take * an accurate measure of market dominance,” because market shares could vary from
year to year, the sustained high market shares of CB& 1 and PDM over such an extended period of
time serves to demondrate reliably the competitive significance of these two firmsin the relevant
markets.'’ U.S. v. Baker Hughes, 731 F. Supp. 3, 9 (D.D.C. 1990), aff'd 908 F.2d 981 (D.C. Cir.
1990).

1. Concentration in LNG Tanks

CB&I and PDM supplied dl of the LNG tanks constructed in the U.S. since 1990. The
acquisition increases the HHI, as measured by U.S. sdes of LNG tanks, by , from to

10000.

16 1n Baker Hughes, the Court of Appedls criticized the government for examining market shares
only over athree-year period from 1986-1988 in a small market, where market shares were “volétile
and shifting,”and easily skewed. 908 F.2d at 986. Measuring market share over along period of time
is aso consstent with the importance that customers place on reputation and experience in these
markets, as discussed infra. Competitors regularly present to customers experience lists referencing
projects that were built as long as thirty years ago.

17 Respondent’ s expert criticized Complaint counsdl’s choice of a cut-off date for market shares,
claming that if Complaint counsd had chosen as a cut-off date for measuring market shares,
PDM would have a market share in the LNG tank market, CB& | would have , and there
would be changeinthe HHI. (Harris Report §1828). This gpproach is exactly the type criticized in
Baker Hughes, asit ignores the fact that, prior to the acquisition, CB&1 and PDM were dmost dways
the only two bidders on LNG tanks and won every LNG project in the U.S. since
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2. Concentration in LPG Tanks
CB&| and PDM erected out of the fourteen LPG tanks congtructed in the U.S. since
1990. The acquigtion increases the HHI, as measured by dollar sdes of LPG tanksin the U.S,, by
, from t0 8380. CX 1153 at Attachment D (S mpson).
3. Concentration in LIN/LOX/LAR Tanks
CB& | and PDM combined supplied about of the LIN/LOX/LAR tanks congtructed in the
U.S. snce 1990. Graver, the only other substantiad constructor of LIN/LOX/LAR tanks during a
portion of that period, supplied approximately of the LIN/LOX/LAR tanks during the relevant
period. However, after declaring bankruptcy during 2001 and liquidating its production facilities,
Graver has exited the market. The other current suppliers, which together built the remaining
of the LIN/LOX/LAR tanks congtructed, are Matrix Services and American Tank & Vessdl. The
acquisition increases the HHI, as measured by dollar sdes of LIN/LOX/LAR tanksinthe U.S,, by
, from to 5845. Id. at Attachment F.
4. Concentration in Thermal Vacuum Chambers

CB&I and PDM supplied dl of the thermal vacuum chambers congtructed in the U.S. since

1990. PDM built one chamber for , while won a contract to construct a
chamber for . The project

. The acquidtion the HHI, as measured by dollar amounts of winning bids for
therma vacuum chambersin the U.S,, by , from to 10000. Id. at Attachment E.
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B. The Acquisition Eliminated CB& I’sMost Substantial Competitor Among
Differentiated Competitors

The high levd of direct competition between CB&1 and PDM heightens the competitive
concerns associated with the large increases in concentration, for in markets where the products offered
by firms are differentiated, mergers between firms that are particularly close competitors are much more
likely to reduce competition. Merger Guidelines § 2.21. The Commission presumesthat if the
combined market shares of the merging firms reaches 35%, “a sgnificant share of sdesin the market
are accounted for by consumers who regard the products of the merging firms as their first and second
choices” Id. a § 2.211. Here, not only do the combined market shares far exceed thet leve, but the
continued success of CB& | and PDM in securing contracts in the relevant markets, over an extended

period of time, makes it bundantly clear that CB& 1 and PDM were each other’s most direct
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As Dr. Smpson, Complaint counsdl’ s expert economic witness, has described, most of the
customers make sourcing decisions based on some type of competitive bidding process among
potential suppliers. CX 1153 31 (Smpson). Therecord of the firms selected as the winning bidders
in these processes, for the period from 1990 to the time of the acquisition in early 2001 demonstrates
that CB& 1 and PDM have been far and away the leading suppliers in the relevant markets.

- Seven LNG tanks were built in thisperiod; CB&I built  ,vdueda dmost  million,
and PDM built ,vduedadmog  million. Id. at Attachment C.

- 109 LN/LOX tanks were built in this period; CB&I built  , vaued in total at
goproximately ~ million, and PDM built , vaued in totd a over million.
Graver built , vdued intotd a dmost million, Matrix built  , vaued intotd at
damog  million,and ATV built  ,vduedaover  million. Id. a Attachment F.
As discussed supra page 18, Graver has exited the market, and its assets have been
liquidated.

- Twelve LPG tanks were built in this period; CB&I built  , vaued in tota at over

million, and PDM built , vduedintota a amost million. Morse Tank built

, vdued a dightly over ~ miillion, and ATV built ,
vaued at . CX 1153, Attachment D (Simpson). CB& I acquired Morse Tank in
December 2001.

- One thermd vacuum chamber was built in this period, and projects were
contracted; CB&| prevailed in one of the projects, valued at approximately  million,
and PDM prevalled in the other, vaued at gpproximately million.

Thus, except in rare circumstances, the only other firms that continue to have any market presence,
however samdl, have smply been unable to compete viably againg CB&1 and PDM.

In each of the rdlevant markets, pricing is determined by the competition for individua projects.

Depending on the competitive process that the customer uses, suppliers will have different levels of

information about the competition for the project. No matter what the scenario, the presence of PDM

as CB&I's closest competitor played akey role in CB&I’s pricing decisons. Where CB& | knew that
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PDM was bidding, it could make a decison on whether to try to beat PDM. Even in instances where
CB& I may not have known who the other bidders were for a particular project, CB& I’ s assessment
that PDM may have been bidding, and its experience in bidding agains PDM would itsdf have been
information that affected the pricing levelsthat CB&| rdlied upon in developing its own bid proposds.
CB& | would have usad this information to formulate a bid that would strike a balance between the
price necessary to be competitive with the likely competition and the price that would generate the most
dtractive returns. As PDM would have been CB& I’ s closest competitor, it therefore would have been
the firm that had the greatest impact on how CB&1 bid even when CB&1 did not know specificaly who

the other bidders were.

Thus, the competition between CB&1 and PDM to secure new contracts benefitted customers
indl of the rdevant markets by serving to maintain pricing levels. Because PDM regularly offered
pricing and terms either better than or at least comparable to CB&I, that competition required CB&,
in order to secure contracts for new projects, to develop proposas for customers that would be
competitive with what it believed PDM would offer. For example, PDM was able to secure a contract

to build atherma vacuum chamber, only after itsinitia bid in responseto a
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head price war with PDM and CBI
[CB&I]

arein avery competitive Stuation and need to save every dollar

budget prices are dways higher than PDM'’s, PDM aways besats their budget price.

PDM, wasthe very
low bidder and met dl of the technical requirements.  In fact, prior to the acquisition, competition was
s0 intense from PDM on LIN/LOX/LAR tanksthat it caused CB&| to bid at margins for

these projects.

Customers in each of the relevant markets found the competition between CB&I and PDM
critical to determining the level of pricing. Customers that purchase thermd vacuum chambers
absent the competition between CB&1 and PDM, would have been forced to pay much
higher prices.
head-to-head price competition between CB& | and PDM
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PDM would likely not have

decreased its price

Absent CBI’'sand PDM-EC’'s compstition,
would have been forced to pay at least 50 percent more and to accept lower quality
materials and services. Further, the competition has spurred product
innovations in thermd vacuum chambers. intense competition between
CB&I/XL and PDM/PSl |ed to develop severd thermd control innovations which will cut
the operating codts of its therma vacuum chamber by

that CB&I presented many innovetive engineering solutions .

In LIN/LOX/LAR tanks, customers found PDM to be dmost always more competitive on
pricing than CB& 1. In LPG tanks, dso, PDM had typicaly quoted lower prices
than CB&I. Andin LNG tanks, CB&l
and PDM fiercely competed for these projects.

Based on their experience in competing for projects for over 25 yearsin the construction of
these speciaized structures, CB& | and PDM recognized each other to be their most substantial
competitor. CB&lI PDM'’ s only compstitor for projectsin the

US.  CBIisPDM EC' sonly competitor on domestic cryogenic, LNG, LPG, Ammonia
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spheres and therma vacuum projects. 8 PDM believed that CBI isPDM EC's
magor competitor consdering dl of the marketsPDM EC serves  CBI and PDM EC are often the
only competitors for internationa and cryogenic storage contracts.

PDM is main
competitor in turnkey LT& C market. When CB& | began assessing the PDM
acquigtion, of the acquisition described PDM asa formidable competitor to
CB&I in LNG/LPG tanks and terminals, spheres and vacuum chambers. 19

CB& I and PDM competed intensely with each other for new projects.
likened the CB&1/PDM rivary to the Cripsvs. Bloods or the Jetsvs.

Sharks.

PDM had been a particular thorn in CB& 1’ s side, for it had been able to obtain a cost

advantage over CB& | and regularly set prices below CB&I's. PDM’ s lower costs forced CB&I to

18 The companies business documents provide a highly reliable means to establish the high level of
direct competition between CB&I| and PDM. In Coca-Cola Bottling, for example, the Commission
relied heavily on such evidence in concluding that an acquisition created unilaterd effects:

CCSW'’s business records revea that CCSW viewed Mr. PIBB as the closest
subgtitute to and a direct competitor of Dr. Pepper.

118 F.T.C. at 607.

19 Western
Hemisphere-CBI & PDM EC aretwo main players  bid against each other alot
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reduce its own prices or risk losng businessto PDM.
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comparable competitorsto CB& 1 and PDM, then as Complaint counsdl’ s economic expert has shown,
it would be virtudly impossible, purely as a matter of probability, for customers to have repeatedly
sdected CB& | and PDM at the levd that they did. Thus, because customers have dmost aways
chosen not to do business with other firms, they have made it clear that CB& 1 and PDM provided their
leading aternatives among the companies bidding to secure contracts for new projects. CX 1153
1975, 95, Attachments C, D (S mpson).

Since 1990, and until the merged CB& 1 and PDM

not one overseas firm has been successful in competing for new projectsin any of the rlevant
markets.

In the cases where foreign firms have bid on U.S. projectsin the relevant markets, their bids

have been much higher than the bids of CB& | and PDM for both LNG projects® and other projects.

2 |n 1994, for example, Memphis Light, Gas and Water put an LNG peak shaving plant, including
acryogenic storage tank, out for bid.

2L When sought bids for aLIN/LOX tank project, submitted bids
that were sgnificantly higher than the bids submitted by CB&1 and PDM.

When tried to partner witha U.S.
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Over the same period since 1990, the domestic firms that constitute CB& I’ s competition today have
aso faled to capture any businessin LNG tanks and therma vacuum chambers. In totd, these existing
firms have captured only about percent of the total revenues from the different projects that have
been awarded in LIN/LOX/LAR, and percent of the revenues from LPG tanks.

3. By Eliminating its Closest Competitor, the Acquisition Likely Increases
CB&I'sMarket Power

It is the competition between CB& | and PDM that has served to maintain the leve of pricing,
and aso has served to ensure a sharp and continuing emphasis on service and innovation. The record
of competition between CB& | and PDM, and the success of these companiesin winning contracts,
therefore provides “information that directly reflects cusomers actud preferences’ for sourcing from

ether of thosetwo rivas. Donnelley

condruction firm , its bids became even |ess competitive.
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of Swedish Match's primary direct competitors.”); Staples, 970 F. Supp. at 1083 (“The merger would
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110 F.T.C. at 314 (post-acquisition HHIs, which were less than 1800, are “well above those that

preated a
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Howaever CB& | annarentlv cave Nno reaxnn to bdieve that the orice of million was




dternatives” Coca-Cola Bottling, 118 F.T.C. at 609.2

While other firmsin the past have been uncompetitive with CB& | and PDM due to their higher
pricing, any successthat CB& I’ s competitors may have in the current environment demongtrates that
since CB& I has diminated PDM, which had been its closest competitor, the only remaining
dternatives are higher-priced and less experienced firms?* The efforts by customers to maintain some
dternative to CB& | should not, however, be mistaken for evidence that the competition that occurs
today remains as intense as the competition that had existed between CB&1 and PDM. Thus,
Complaint counsel’ s expert, Dr. Simpson, has followed the reasoning of the Commisson’s decisionin
Coca-Cola Bottling, and has described how the continued competition from these consistently inferior
aternatives reflects CB& I’ s increased market power. CX 1153 1 35-38 (Simpson).

In particular, CB&I, after diminating PDM, does not need to be as comptitive as it had
previoudy been in order to secure new contracts. Even if CB&I, in some cases, has imperfect
information about its competitors for a particular piece of business, it will dways know one key fact -

that it has diminated PDM as its key compstitor. As such, it can even in those casesincrease the

2 Asthe Commission described in the and ogous situation in the Coca-Cola Bottling case,
where the acquisition led to the dimination of one of the two soft-drink brands that had competed most
directly because they were most dike in flavor and marketplace position, the consumers who had
preferred those two brands to all other brands were made “less well off.” 118 F.T.C. at 609.

2 See also United States v. Eastman Kodak Co., 63 F.3d 95, 103 (2d Cir. 1995) (“[A]
monopoalist . . . dways faces a highly eastic demand; its products are so overpriced that even inferior
subgtitutes begin to look good to consumers.”); Pepsico, Inc. v. The Coca Cola Co., 114 F. Supp.2d
243, 257 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (“[the] existence of Significant subgtitution in the event of further price
increases or even a the current price does not tell us whether the defendant already exercises Sgnificant
market power.”” (quoting Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Tech. Serv. Inc., 504 U.S. 451, 471
(1991)).
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pricing levelsin its bid proposas to customers to reflect the important fact that the next-best proposa
will not likely be as competitive as PDM’ s would have been. While customers may continue to seek to
have an dternative bidder to CB&I, therefore, the fact is that when the competitive aternatives become
less favorable than PDM had been, the terms of sde that customers are able to obtain aso become less
favorable. 1d. Dr. Smpson cited the experience of one customer, , who awarded aLIN
tank contract to , Smply because that customer did not want to be held hostage by CB&I.

if CB&I and PDM had continued to compete, he would have been less likely to
award the bid to . Seeid. at 138 (Smpson)

Complaint counsd is not required to demongtrate that the acquisition hasled to actua post-
acquisition priceincreases. Rather, the Commission and courts are cautious in evauating post-
acquisition pricing evidence because respondents can, during the pendency of this proceeding too easily
manipulate prices to avoid the gppearance of the exercise of market power. “Pogt-acquisition evidence
that is subject to manipulation by the party seeking to use it is entitled to little or no weight.” Hospital
Corp. of Am., 807 F.2d at 1384.% However, the evidence of pricing that has occurred since the
acquisition provides additional evidence of CB&I’s market power. Prior to the acquisition, CB&|
regularly included margins in its budget estimates for LNG pesk shaving projects

and lower margins of for the LNG tank portion of the project.

Pogt-acquisition, however, CB& | hasincluded margins in some of its budget

% Accordingly, the “Commission... was not required to take account of a post-acquisition
transaction that may have been made to improve Hospita Corporation’s litigating podtion.” 807 F.2d
at 1384; see also Goodrich, 110 F.T.C. at 340-41.
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estimates both for LNG peak shaving projects and for LNG tanks.
(Smpson Rebuttd) (citing CB& I’ sincreased margin for LNG project for
, and high priced quote on LNG project for . Asdescribed
by the Complaint counsel’ s economic expert, in addition, some customers in the rlevant markets have
cited post-acquisition pricing increases by CB&.

(Smpson) (citing testimony by and by representatives of

Respondents expert has emphasized that in connection with
the only bidders approved to participate in the find bid
on the LNG tank were . However, that Situation does not help Respondents' case, since
in thisinstance CB&| for LNG tanks, despite repeated requests

from the customer that it do 0.

Because did not want to have the LNG tanks necessarily tied to the overdl project manager,
it ultimately selected which agreed to seek

competitive bidders for the LNG tanks, as overal project manager.?

26

When competitors expressed concerns about giving their bids to ,an
LNG tank compstitor, designated as having sole respongbility for
evaduating the LNG bids. Even after making this arrangemernt,
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Ultimatdly, therefore, the choice that was forced on the customer by virtue of CB& 1’ s decision not to
bid certainly does not suggest that the customer, has been able to maintain the leve of
competition that would have existed but for the acquisition.

B. Other Firms Will Continueto Provide Only Weak Competition to CB&I In
Each of the Relevant Markets

In order to rebut the strong presumption of anticompetitive effects, respondents must
demondtrate that other firms will be sufficient to restore the competition that had existed between CB& |
and PDM in each of the rdlevant markets dleged in the Complaint. However, the few margina
competitors, who, despite years of effort have gained only asmall fraction of the sdes of CB&I and
PDM, do not have capability to “repostion” their product lines to replace PDM and maintain the level
of competition that had existed prior to the acqusition. Merger Guidelines § 2.212. Evenif other

firms continue to bid against CB&I, asthey have in the past-vifcando nld be expectsudponllity bemar to

CB&|I did not submit a separate bid for the LNG tanks. By thetime CB&I finaly
expressed someinterest in bidding for the LNG tanks aone, had closed the bidding process.
To date, the tank business has not yet been awarded.

27 This case contrasts to the Situation in Donnelley, where the Commission relied on evidence that
because “the customers for whom the merging firms were first and second choices represent a minor
portion of a proposed relevant market,” the other firms * should be expected to reposition with aacrity.”
120 F.T.C. a 198. The evidence in this case establishes that athough other firms have bid against
CB&I and PDM, it has been the rare occasson when they have succeeded. Unlike Donnelley, there
is no track record of subgtantial and successful competition from other firms. Rather, the conclusion
that the historical record suggestsis that other firmswill not likely provide as effective a congraint on
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CB&I believesthat “[p]rice, quadlity, reputation, safety record and timeliness of completion are
the principal competitive factors within the industry.” CX 1021 at 36. Based on these factors, CB&I is
the most cost-effective potentid supplier for customersin al of the rdevant markets. It enjoys
sgnificant cost advantages over both foreign and domestic competitors, is amore experienced
competitor which faces less market risk, and has a reputation among customers for providing reliable
products on atimely basis. Other firms, therefore, Smply cannot consistently compete effectively in the
U.S. againgt CB&I. See American Medical Int’'l, Inc., 104 F.T.C. 1, 201 (1984) (because smaller
hospitals did not have facilities equivadent to the combined company, and failed to provide “afull range
of hospitd services,” the Commission concluded that “[a]s aresult of the acquisition of the French
hospitd, AMI faceslittle or no competition in either market.”). See also Donnelley, 120 F.T.C. at 195
(“In the context of locaized competition, unilatera competitive effects may result from . .. amerger
between rival sdlersthat have smilar advantages in serving a particular group of buyers.”).

1 CB& I Enjoys Cost Advantages Over Other Firms

CB&I enjoys significant cost advantagesin building high-quaity and rdiable products over the
competitors which now must be relied upon - instead of PDM - to provide a competitive aternative.
Foreign competitors, such as Technigaz, Whessoe and TKK for LNG tanks, face sgnificantly higher
costs than either CB& 1 or PDM to compete for contracts in the U.S. because, unlike CB& I and PDM,
they would need to rely extensively on more expendve subcontracting for construction services,

and for the fabrication of sted components.

CB&| as PDM had provided.
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28 Qubcontracting is more expensive because it
adds to the number of companies which must earn an independent profit from asingle project. Dr.
Simpson referred to these added cogts as “ double margindization.”  Subcontracting significant aspects
of facility congtruction aso increases therisk of error and the possibility of delay in the projects.

Industry participants recognize the importance of sdf-performing al aspects of project
construction. It isfor these reasons that
these foreign firms - dthough quite competitive and successful in their home markets - have dways
been inferior competitive dternaivesinthe U.S.

Domestic competitors, such as , d0 face higher cogts in the marketsin which they
attempt to compete, primarily LIN/LOX/LAR and LPG tanks. began bidding on
LIN/LOX/LAR tanksin and since that time successfully constructed tanks for

. However, has sold the fabrication facility it used to build these tanks, and
its cogts have increased significantly as it must subcontract fabrication work for these tanks.
Since despite bidding on
LIN/LOX/LAR projectsinthe U.S,, has become a high priced bidder and has not won any
contracts.
Furthermore, CB& I’ s successful completion of so many projects has provided it with the

benefits of the learning curve inherent in its continuing experience in building tanks, which provides it

2 A condruction team for an LNG tank, for example, would likely consist of people.
For aforeign competitor, importing its own work force would likely be cost-
prohibitive.
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with an additiona source of cost advantages over other firmsin each of the relevant markets. In
contrast to CB& |, fringe competitors have completed far fewer projectsin the U.S,, and smply have

not had the opportunity to gain the experience that CB& | has had.

For example, like
began bidding on LIN/LOX/LAR tanksin , but did not win itsfirgt contract until
when it won a contract to congtruct apair of LIN/LOX/LAR tanks for . Withitslimited

experience in congructing LIN/LOX/LAR tanks, issmply not as adept in building these tanks as
cost effectively as CB&I. Customers do not expect either to be able to replace
PDM as avery effective competitor in LIN/LOX/LAR tanks?®

2. CB&I’'sYearsof Experience Also Reducesits Market Risksand
Enhancesits Reputation With Customers

CB&I’'syears of experience in bidding on and completing projects aso providesit with the
ability to minimize the level of commercid risks for its cusomers operations aswell asitsown
operations. In order to limit therisk of financid (and potentially human) |osses associated with product
falure, customersin each of the relevant markets prefer to source from suppliers who have atrack
record of completing multiple projects that have operated successtully over many years. In therma
vacuum chambers, for example, a problem with the congtruction of the chamber can damage satdllites
worth hundreds of millions of dollars, or cause a satellite manufacturer to miss a ddlivery deadline,

triggering expensive liquidated damages clauses.

29

aso states that some of its customers would not consider to be an acceptable dternative.
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%0 Customers are typicaly testing satellites costing $50MM to $200MM in
thermal vacuum chambers cogting $5MM-$20MM. Therefore the choice of equipment and supplier is



completing projects on schedule® Al of these factors go directly to afirm’s ability to manageits

businessin order to compete effectively to meet the needs of U.S. customers.®

the resource commitment even to bid is high, and the competition strong.

mistakes in estimate (items missing), among the factors that can
negatively affect a contract’s profitability. Having built severd LNG tanksin the
United States, CB& | and PDM are not subject to the same bid estimation risk as afirm that lacked that
experience.

32

LNG facilities built in the U.S. have specific code requirements that
are not necessarily applicable in foreign countries.
Customers are aware of the advantage that
CB&I has over foreign competitorsin the U.S. through its extensve experience in making FERC filings.

CBI brings unmatched experience in preparing the documents describing the facility that
are necessary for permitting and/or filings for FERC authorization permits. Virtudly dl mgor LNG
fadilitiesin the United States (including Puerto Rico) that have required FERC submittals have been
created by CB&I or its recent acquisition (PDM).

the permitting agencies, most
especialy FERC, know and respect.

33

3 For example, delaysin gaining regulatory gpprova can be extremely codtly for customers,
as can be delaysin congtruction schedulesin generd.

The quickest way to get on the gas industry’s manure list and never build another USA peak shaving
facility isnot to have an LNG peek shaving facility ready for the winter weather it is supposed to
handle. Thereisabsolutely no acceptable excuse for missing a peak shaving season and causing a gas
company to pay demand pendlties.

Because of the financid risks associated with LNG projects, owners often demand
large liquidated damages provisons for late project completion.
liquidated damages
provisons of per day for late completion of the firgt tank of an LNG project .
Other LNG projects and therma vacuum chambers require performance bonds.
performance bond required for LNG peak shaving project .
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The fringe competitorsin the U.S., who do not have the experience and track record of CB&|